  THE SHARED HERITAGE TRAIL OF SWAIN HOUSE, GROVE HOUSE,
          AND POPLARS FARM PRIMARY SCHOOLS; ST. FRANCIS’

      CATHOLIC PRIMARY SCHOOL AND HANSON UPPER SCHOOL.
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This Heritage Trail can be joined at any point as it is a circular route. However, for the purposes of this book we are starting at the Grove House gatehouse, situated at the junction of Myers Lane and Grove House Road. There are still many clues around as to how this area must once have looked; notice the mature trees leading along Myers Lane; they were planted by skilful gardeners to enhance the way to Hodgson’s Fold. The gatehouse itself gives us some idea of what Grove House must have looked like, and when coming from Bolton Road, the house must have stood out, placed as it were, on the hillside. 
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James Atkinson Jowett was the builder of Grove House. He came from a distinguished family of Jowetts, which included Nathan Atkinson Jowett of Clockhouse, Manningham, and ‘Miss’ Jowett of the same address. Myers Lane was named after a family that once resided here; before that it was known as Owl Lane, though no one knows why it was so called. The Myers family built houses in the lane and also had a business based here. They were cart wrights and cow doctors. One family member, Joseph, officiated as bye-law man and pinder (someone who rounds up lost cattle and places them in a pen), and had the comical nickname of ‘Dosey Doll’. 

From our starting point, we can look across the valley to the spire of St. James Church, which is our next point of interest on our trail. To reach it, we must follow Grove House Road to its junction with Bolton Road, then turn left and walk down Bolton Road. When safe, cross the road and approach the church.
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The first thing to look for is the church’s foundation stone, laid on 18th October, 1876, and reads: ‘This stone was laid by Jas. Atkinson Jowett Esq., who built this church at his sole expense, with a sincere desire to benefit his native village. 18th October 1876’ 
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Yes, it is the same James Atkinson Jowett that was the builder of Grove House; in fact, the Jowett family seem to crop up all over the place in Bolton. One comes across their name again and again when looking into its history! Before this church was built there had not been a prayer house capable of holding several hundred people, and Bolton badly needed one. The church is early English Gothic with the building in the conventional cruciform plan. The spire rises 150 feet and can be seen from far away. The entrance is through a groined porch, formed by the ground stage of the tower, which leads you into the interior. There is a nave, aisles, chancel and a memorial chapel (built later), and altogether the church can provide space for 500 worshippers. The interior is well lit with natural light from the windows, and some of these hold valuable stained glass, like the east window, which portrays the chief events in the life of Jesus Christ.

Leaving St James Church, and taking great care to re-cross Bolton Road, we enter Kingsdale Crescent and to where, just on the right, is No2, which was the home of a very brave lady. She gave her life whilst saving others, earning her a posthumous George Cross Award – only the fourth ever presented to a woman, and the first ever to a civilian. Her name was Barbara Jane Harrison. Born at the family [image: image7.jpg]


home on 24th of May 1945, the young girl went to Greystones Preparatory School, Pollard Lane. At age 11, she moved with her family to Scarborough where, after growing up and taking a succession of jobs both here and abroad, Barbara Jane became an air stewardess with the British Overseas Airways Corporation, and it was on 8th April 1968, that the young girl became a heroine. After her BOAC Boeing 707 had taken off from Heathrow Airport, the number two engine caught fire and fell off, leaving a fierce fire burning at the engine position. The aircraft – though able to make an emergency landing at the airport – was now on fire at the port wing. Opening up escape [image: image8.jpg]


[image: image9.jpg]


routes for passengers, Miss Harrison and a steward opened the rear gallery door and inflated the chute, but it became twisted on the way down. The steward climbed down to straighten it, but this meant he could not return to the aircraft, and this left Barbara Jane alone in helping the passengers. With flames and explosions all around her, she encouraged passengers to jump and tried to push others out. As flames began to engulf the plane, the brave stewardess stayed at her post, struggling to help the last of the passengers, and it was while trying to save the lives of an elderly couple that the heroic girl was overcome. When rescuers were able to enter the aircraft, they found Miss Harrison’s body close to the bodies of the elderly couple. Almost singlehandedly, Barbara Jane Harrison had saved the lives of her crew and 121 passengers; only six people died in the tragedy. Plaques in her memory adorn walls at Heathrow Airport Chapel, as well as St. Lawrence’s C of E Church, Scawby, Scarborough. Here in Bradford, in the year 2000, she was commemorated in the Memorial Gallery at City Hall along with other local recipients of bravery medals. Her George Cross is on display at the crew’s quarters at Heathrow. Barbara Jane Harrison GC was a truly remarkable girl, and we include her on our trail as a mark of our great respect for this young lady.  
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Retracing one’s steps to Bolton Road continue the walk, noticing the villas on the opposite side of the road. Upon reaching Bolton Lane on the right, take it, passing by the school and quickly approaching Teltey Place on the left. Crossing into Tetley Place pass through, and approach the large house ahead. This is Rose Cottage, where over the years many distinguished people have lived. T[image: image11.jpg]Hlton I Braitfond Dale "




he most famous of them all was a man who lived here for seven years and is still well remembered by many – particularly us, as we can state that we personally owe a great deal to him. His name was William Edward Forster, Liberal MP for Bradford, who introduced the Elementary Education Act in 1870, which stated all children were to be formally educated – yes, we owe it to him for much of our education today!

Mr. Forster was born in 1818 at Bradpole, Dorset, and moved to Bradford in 1841. Originally, he stayed with John Hustler of Bolton House (just across Bolton Road), until he spotted Rose Cottage from a window. He bought it immediately, and used it for entertaining famous friends such as Robert Owen, the socialist, Thomas Cooper, the Chartist, and Thomas Carlyle, the philosopher. Local children loved William, calling him “Misser Fosser”, and he used the adjoining malt kiln to entertain them, and older people, with tea-parties. He even staged dramatic performances and dances in the grounds of Rose Cottage. Mr. Forster also looked after his workers (he owned several cotton mills, and woollen manufacturing businesses) by organising reading rooms, evening classes, and half-time education for children aged eight [image: image12.jpg]


to fifteen. He also made sure plenty of work trips took place to keep morale high. However, not everyone felt good will towards him. As Chief Secretary for Ireland in Gladstone’s second government, Mr. Forster became a hated representative of British rule in Ireland, and though his schemes were well intentioned, it did nothing to gain the sympathy of men intent on Home Rule. At one point he was extremely lucky when, altering his travelling plans at the last minute, he was saved from an assassination plot. “Misser Fosser” died at his London home in 1886, whereupon an elaborate funeral at Westminster Abbey was held for him, before his body was brought ‘home’ to Burley-in-Wharfedale, the place he had loved the most. Four years later, on the 17th May, 1890, there was great rejoicing in Bradford; flags flew everywhere, and church bells pealed out, for it was on this day that the statue of William Edward Forster was unveiled in the newly named Forster Square. What a wonderful gentleman “Misser Fosser” must have been!
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Retracing our steps we return to Tetley Place, named after the Tetley family who owned the malt kiln we referred to in Mr. Forster’s story. These are a terrace of Victorian houses, built after the original buildings were demolished, and are fine examples of that style of architecture. Walking now to the rear of Tetley Place, we come to Spout Ing Manor, which forms part of the original Low Fold, the name for this group of houses. This building – though in some books referred to as being built in the 1600s - could in fact date back further. The current owner believes the house to actually date to the 13th century, and cites the foundations for this; he also mentions that inside is a massive ‘inglenook’ fireplace from the Tudor period, plus a door between the garden and house is of Tudor origin. We do not know who is right – the books or the owner – but we do know that this is a beautiful house, certainly of ancient origin! 
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Spout Ing Manor once had a very famous resident – Mr. John Hustler. It was he who was known as the man who ‘made’ Bradford, turning it from a town into a city. He championed the building of the Leeds & Liverpool Canal, and also campaigned for a Bradford branch, which he got. The Bradford Canal ran from Shipley, right into the centre of the town, bringing huge prosperity, and giving the town its nickname, “Worstedopolis”.
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Leaving the ancient Low Fold, continue along Bolton Lane until one arrives at, on the left, an ancient farmstead, long ago described as: ‘... Walnut Farm, which in 1651 was in the possession of John Jowett, Shoe maker, of Ye Kyrkgate, Bradforde’. [image: image17.jpg]


This beautiful old farm has stood here for centuries, known at times as Bartlett House, Bolton Banks Farm, Bilton Fold, and Walnut Tree Farm. On the gable of the house are the initials B.E.B. and the date 1736. These represent the names of Benjamin Bartlett and his wife Elizabeth, who built the new house as a summer residence, but all the different names refer to places and people connected to the house: Bolton Banks (the area is so named); Bilton, after a Quaker named Bilton resided there; Bartlett, after the Benjamin and Elizabeth, and finally Walnut, and Walnut Tree, after a walnut tree was planted there in the 1700s. It was said that by 1812 the tree was fully matured and that ‘in recent summers hundreds of walnuts have been gathered.’ 
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Comprising the farm is also Walnut Cottage, the smaller of the two dwellings. There is a startling story connected to the houses, how over two hundred years ago, when they were in the possession of a Miss Mary Thornton, a robbery took place. Late one stormy night, two men wearing black masks entered the house, terrorising the occupants and stealing a quantity of wool tops and money. Some time later, quite by chance, the house maid, while in a comb shop in Bradford, heard the voice of a workman in the cellar, and recognised his voice as one of the robbers. “Yond’s t’man who robbed my mistress!” she screamed. The man was arrested, and he and his accomplice, after a trial where they constantly protested their innocence, were found guilty and hung at York Castle. Justice seemed to have been done, yet twenty years later their innocence was proved when a man named Turner, who called regularly at the farm for milk, confessed to being one of the robbers. The shock so upset Miss Thornton that she never recovered from its effects and died. Some said the house became haunted by the lady’s ghost!
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From here we retrace our footsteps along Bolton Lane, turning left up Whiteways. At the top is a snicket which leads into Wyndham Avenue. Here join Luther Way, taking the route to Ashbourne Way. Turning right, walk along to find the snicket on the left (just beyond Botany Avenue). Follow this to the top and turn right and the path will bring one into the ancient hamlet of Hodgson’s Fold, named after the family that lived here.
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Walk right through, between the buildings where neighbours could stretch across and shake hands, and emerge onto Myers Lane. Now turn around and walk again through the Fold. Look for the date stone above the door of a cottage. It says: ‘I.H. 1652’. The ‘H’ stands for Hodgson. It was at Hodgson Fold that the very first prayer house, dedicated to Methodism, was founded by ‘Old’ James Atkinson (1781-1864). He led the movement to build the first Methodist Church in Myers Lane in 1853. Squeeze through the gap between the cottages (surely the tightest between one street and another in the country?) to where the village pinfold stood (remember our old friend, Dosey Dolly?) and where stray animals were kept until their owners could be found. This area remains timeless, and it is well worth just lingering here for a few moments to soak up the atmosphere. Before leaving notice the large house, which belonged to the Pullan family, whose name is remembered in Pullan Avenue, Eccleshill.

The little stile one passes through is known as a ‘kissing’ gate – do we have to kiss each other in order to pass through, we ask? Thankfully, no! The word comes from ‘kisting’ and has everything to do with cattle, and nothing to do with romance! The square stones are placed in such a way to appear to form a solid wall when looked at from near ground level. This tricks animals – having only 2D sight -into believing there is no way through, whilst we – with 3D sight – see the opening! Clever, what?

From here one must return to Ashbourne Way, turning right and walking in the direction of King’s Road. At the end turn right, then after a few yards looms the subway beneath King’s Road. Having used the subway, join King’s Road, walking down the hill a few hundred yards until a flight of steps are reached that lead down to join Long Meadow.
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Picking up a footpath that leads across the fields to the left, we come to an area that is sadly now fenced off. This is a shame as there were many things to discover in these fields and woods. Going back to 1645, when the plague visited Bradford, it is said that victims were buried in this area. Where the dead were laid to rest, stones were stood haphazardly over their graves. In the copse opposite to where we stand are a number of such stones – is this where the plague-pit was?
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Also, we now stand in ancient “Bradford Boar” country. The story of how Bradford got its coat-of-arms comes from this area. The vicious boar that frightened everyone roamed the area between Bolton Woods, Bolton Villas and Cliffe Wood, which is the area around Wapping Road. We had hoped that we might be able to show you the very drinking hole that the boar used, since there is a spring rising in the field opposite to where we stand, but we now feel that the spring was actually closer to the centre of Bradford. 
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From here keep right, and climb the hill to join Poplars Park Road, taking the track to the left (just before Poplars Farm School). Though one might not think it, this track has been here for centuries, and is often referred to in books written many years ago. It would have been a quick way to get to Bradford from Idle, passing through Cliffe Woods and our “Wild Boar Country”. The steady climb reveals, on looking back, a wonderful vista of the city. We can see right across the valley to Lister’s famous Manningham Mills nestling near to the horizon. Its chimney was said at one time to have been the largest in the world! Stop for a few moments to enjoy the view.  Up ahead, on the right, one sees the white chimney of a farmstead. This we believe to be formally called Wood Lane [image: image29.jpg]


Farm; spoken of in William Cudworth’s book “The History of Bolton” (circa 1880). It is not the original farm, but was built in 1857 by the Jowetts, a very wealthy family from the area. Cudworth tells us it was rented to a family called Hodgson, who had “...nine strapping sons, some of them eccentric.” Like Richard Hodgson, who courted his fiancé for 40 years before finally making an honest woman of her! There was also James, who believed all his life that someone was trying to poison him, and so ate nothing and refused to drink water other than that from a secret well that only he knew of!

A lot of buildings have disappeared from Wood Lane; there was a house known as the “Flower of England” here – could our farmstead be one and the same? Before moving on, Cudworth also states that: “Somewhere near to here, a brass pan full of gold was buried many years ago, still to be found.” Better bring our metal detectors next time!
[image: image30.jpg]


Continuing, enter Wood Lane proper, and notice there are lots of fully mature trees on this street. Again it shows the age of the road. Everything has changed here, all except our next point of interest – a very old building which was said to have a ghost! On the left, approach a patch of ground, to where, in the corner, is a snicket. Follow this through to Cheltenham Road, go left and pass the roundabout which brings one to, on the left, Bolton Hall – one of the “gems” on our trail. This building dates back many centuries, though it has been altered and built on over the years, but the main section differs little from original drawings. Cudworth wrote of the hall thus: “The date of its erection we assume to have been the year 1627, from a stone which is still preserved, upon which are the initials T.W. From these initials ... we incline to the belief that the Bolton Hall estate was purchased by the Stanhopes from Thomas Walker, then living in Bolton.” 
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The traditions of Bolton Old Hall include a ghost, which is said to make its appearance at stated intervals at the circular window, which can be seen in the upper wall of the main gabled section of the hall. It is worth having a quick “shufty” around the back of the hall to admire the extremely long roofs – so typical of the 1600s.
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At this point it is worth knowing that we are at the most northerly point of our trail, as we verge into the township of Wrose, which at one time belonged to a very famous Knight of the Garter. His name was Sir George Clifford, also known as the Third Earl of Cumberland, and owner of Skipton Castle. Clifford lands and estates stretched right the way from Westmoreland (as it was called) in the north, right the way to Bradford – this is the very edge of the south-eastern boundary. 

Retracing one’s steps to Wood Lane, cross and join Semon Avenue, then turn left and follow Thompson Avenue to a point just opposite the triangular junction of King’s Road, Swain House Road, and Sutton Avenue. William Cudworth, in his acclaimed book Round About Bradford wrote thus of this area: ‘There was then an old tradition to the effect that at one time a manor-house stood on the hill ... around which it was thought not only a cluster of dwellings stood, but also a Church.’
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The ‘lost Village’ of Bolton is neither a legend nor tradition; the village really did exist, with records showing that in 1473 the manor house belonged to one Thomas Copley. Quite where it stood is not fully known, though it was thought to be between Hodgson’s Fold and Bolton Hall, making the point where we stand, at the junction of several key roads, a good bet, since it would have stood at an ancient crossroads. ‘The disappearance of the “Old Town” [village] is probably due to the majority of the inhabitants being manorial servants, for in the early days the bulk of the land was owned and cultivated by the lord of the manor. In the course of time, however, the land within the manor became vested in the hands of the freeholders and manorial servants were no longer required. The freeholders built houses, labourers’ cottages, and farm buildings on their own holdings, and in this way the population would have become scattered and the “Old Town” deserted.’ The nearby hamlets of Bolton Outlanes, Low Fold, and Hodgson’s Fold are of much later origin, so hold no clues as to how the village must have looked.
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From here join Swain House Road and walk along until Radcliffe Avenue is met on the right. Join this and soon Swain House School appears on the right. Swain House School has been a hot bed of TV talent; some of our biggest stars of the “weeklies” (regular series) have attended the school, and we are proud to unveil their names and stories here. First up is film and TV producer, Barry Hanson, whose CV stretches from the late 1960s to the present day. Barry was born on 10th August 1943 at 340 Kings Road, and when old enough attended Swain House Junior School. In his youth he took up drumming, and performed as such in Hamlet and the King which was playing at the Bradford Civic Playhouse. Mr. Hanson admits he was “smitten” with the stage and soon began a career in theatre that would see him, by 1967, as assistant director at the Royal Court Theatre, London. Here he directed many plays, and he soon transferred this experience to television, becoming drama script editor, producer and director for Pebble Mill TV Studios in Birmingham. Next came Thames TV, where among others, he produced The Naked Civil Servant which won the Prix Italia, Bafta and International Emmy for best drama. The silver screen beckoned and next came films of the calibre of [image: image38.jpg]RWSTORVG,
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the celebrated classic The Long Good Friday. Many films and TV series later, Barry Hanson continues to deliver first class educational series and lots of mainstream entertainment. We are proud to have him on our trail!
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Next up is an actor who has appeared in everything from Shakespeare to Emmerdale. Edward Peel – the young lad who attended Swain House Nursery and Primary Schools and who grew up to be a TV star – has one of the most recognised faces on the small screen. Edward started grown up life as a teacher at St. Augustine’s Primary School in Otley Road, at the same time privately learning all aspects of theatre. After a stint at the Bradford Civic Playhouse, he set out to become one of TV’s top villains, playing a succession of nasty characters to chill the viewers’ bones. Perhaps his most frightening character was Kane, the galactic criminal in the ‘Dragonfire’ episode of BBC TV’s Doctor Who. (Wow! ANYONE who appears in Doctor Who is a BIG hero of ours!!!) Regardless of his chilling roles, Edward also tours with the Royal Shakespeare Company, and is regarded as a thoroughly nice guy!

From Swain House School, cross the road to join Moorhouse Avenue, then turn right into Moser Crescent. We should not forget that here lived another hero – a recipient of the Victoria Cross no less – and a man who, for all his valour, ended up for a time redundant and unemployed. 
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In July, 1945, Belfast born James Joseph Magennis, dressed in his navel frogman uniform gear, swam from a midget submarine to plant limpet mines on the 10,000-ton Japanese cruiser [image: image43.jpg]


Takao in the Johore Straits. Let the London Gazette of 13th November, 1945 take up the story: ‘He had to squeeze through a narrow space in the partly-open diving hatch, and then scrape barnacles off the bottom of the cruiser before attaching the limpets. During this time his breathing apparatus was leaking, and he returned to the submarine after completion of his task very exhausted. On withdrawing, his commander found that one of the limpet carriers which was being jettisoned would not release itself and Magennis immediately volunteered to free it; this he did after five minutes of nerve-racking work with a heavy spanner.’ For this bold action, James Joseph Magennis was rewarded with Britain’s highest award – the Victoria Cross. It was in 1962, long after the war had ended, that Mr. Magennis moved to Moser Crescent, and to where he found himself redundant and unemployed. At the time he said “People do not seem to think much of heroes these days, but I am not bitter, I do not want to moan or cry poverty, the country does not owe me a living. All my life I worked hard and I would like to have a chance to do so again.” Mr. Magennis did get the chance to work again, and became chief service engineer at Rank Wharfedale, Bradford. He died in the Halifax Royal Infirmary on 12th of February, 1986. We will remember him.
Passing through the snicket at the end of Moser Crescent, emerge into Idle Road, keep right and walk along until the public house is reached. Today it is known as the Swing Gate Hotel, having in the past been known as the ‘Swing Gate’. There was a sign that bore the couplet: ‘This gate [image: image44.jpg]


hangs well and hinders none, Refresh and pay, then travel on.’ ’However, if one looks carefully on the wall, one will see what looks like a tiny cemented-in window. This was not a window, but a carving of a sheaf of wheat. Why? Because the original name of the hostelry was going to be the ‘Wheat Sheaf’ - not the Swing Gate! (Incidentally, the carving was done by a local man, Jonas Tasker, son of the sexton of the Parish Church!)
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Walking to the rear of the Swing Gate there stands the last point of interest on our trail, and one that we can describe as our “Jewel in the Crown” – Bolton’s oldest building, the beautiful Ivy Hall. This little house, tucked away behind modern buildings, is a most wonderful structure. Built in 1616, it has not changed at all; everything is just as it was when it was erected 400 years ago. Notice the large buttressed chimney – it has steps on the inside which made easy access for sweeps. At one time the hall was owned by John Bailey, who also owned the ancient Tollbooth and prison which stood at the junction of Ivegate and Kirkgate in Bradford, mentioned as far back as the days of Henry VII. A later owner would transfer to the hall the old dungeon door, made of solid oak, and densely studded with nails. It guarded the entrance for many years, before being given to a museum. Ivy Hall – apart from being the most beautiful private residence in Bradford - has a mysterious legend attached to it, which is that a secret tunnel once led from the house right the way to Bolling Hall some two-to-three miles away! 

From here it is a short walk back to the gatehouse at the entrance to what was Grove House, and to where we began our trail, which now comes to an end. We hope you have enjoyed your time with us, and that one day you may join us again.

